
MINUTES OF THE NEENAH PLAN COMMISSION 
Tuesday, June 11, 2019 

4:15 p.m. 

 
Present:  

Mayor Dean Kaufert, 
Chairman 

PRESENT Gerry Kaiser, Director of 
Public Works 

PRESENT Nick Piergrossi, Vice 
Chairman 

PRESENT 

Kate Hancock-Cooke PRESENT NJSD Representative ABSENT Karen Genett PRESENT 

Gerry Andrews ABSENT Ald. Jane Lang PRESENT   

 
Also present:  

Brad Schmidt, Deputy Director of 
Community Development 

Cassandra Kohls, Administrative 
Assistant Community Development 

James Godlewski, City Attorney 

Chris Haese, Director of Community 
Development 

Members of the Pubic (refer to attached 
Meeting Attendance Record) 

James Merten, Traffic Engineer 

 
 
Minutes:  
MSC Piergrossi/Lang to approve the April 9, 2019 meeting minutes. All Aye. Motion passed. 
 

Mayor Kaufert called the meeting to order at 4:20 p.m.  
 
Public Appearances:  Mayor Kaufert opened for Public Appearances. No one commented. Mayor Kaufert closed Public Appearances.  

 
 
Public Hearings:   

 
1. Special Use Permit - 2680 Marathon Avenue - Religious Institution (Mosque). Mayor Kaufert opened the Public Hearing.  

 
Deputy Director Schmidt provided an overview of the applicant’s (Fox Valley Islamic Society) request for a Special Use Permit 
to construct a place of worship (Mosque) on property located at 2680 Marathon Avenue. The proposed building will replace the 
applicant’s existing facility located in the Town of Neenah. The applicant has owned the proposed site since 2008. The site 
was described as 7 acres, undeveloped land zoned R-1, Single-family Residential.  The proposed development would be 
located along the west 3 acres of the property with the remaining acreage remaining undeveloped at this time.  
 
Land north and west of the subject property includes single-family residences, while land to the south includes the Castle Oak 
Park and a city-owned stormwater facility. Agricultural and to the east is located in the Town of Neenah. Deputy Director 
Schmidt presented a map of the subject property footprint.  
 
The majority of religious institutions in the city are located in R-1 districts. Deputy Director Schmidt indicated landscaping 
standards apply. He provided an overview of the frontage landscaping, interior landscaping and bufferyard landscaping to 
protect the residential uses from glare from lights, visual encroachment and transmission of noise and screening requirements.  
 
The proposed building is 7,760 square feet in area and has a 25-foot wall height and 45-foot peak height. The maximum 
height of the two minarets is 55 feet. The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints (115 Castle Oak Drive) has a similar 
height to the proposed building. The site plan includes future additions, however, these additions are not being approved as 
part of this special use permit request. 
 
The proposed site plan adheres to the required developments standards. The setbacks were described as front yard of 193-
feet, side yard setbacks of 87-foot north and 180 foot-south, and 476-foot rear yard setback. The maximum worship 
occupancy is 360 people, therefore a maximum of 90 off-street parking stalls were required. The proposed plan includes 90 
parking stalls and 4 handicap accessible stalls (94 total stalls). Parking lot lighting was not proposed at this time but would 
require Plan Commission approval prior to installation.  
 
Stormwater will be managed via the stormwater pond that was designed to accommodate the stormwater from this property. 
The parking lot will include catch basins to collect and direct stormwater to the stormwater facility. Water and sewer utilities are 
sufficiently sized to serve this use.  
 
Deputy Director Schmidt indicated he researched the impact of the proposed use on the surrounding property values over the 
past 5 years and did not find a negative impact on property values nor did he see a decrease in development potential. The 
Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints was constructed in 2003. All adjacent lots have been built upon and sold at 
assessment ratios typical to market.  
 
Deputy Director Schmidt discussed the potential traffic impact. He felt the use will have a minimal impact on traffic within the 
neighborhood. At the current location, the maximum number of cars that visit the site range between 10-35 during typical 
hours and 30-50 during Ramadan. Deputy Director Schmidt displayed a traffic chart showing the estimated trips per day.  
 
Mayor Kaufert clarified that this is not a rezoning of the property. The proposed use is an allowable use within the R-1, single 
family district. There are multiple churches within the R-1 District in the city. 



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 2  
 

 
Member Piergrossi inquired about the lighting plan. Deputy Director Schmidt clarified that there is no exterior lighting in the 
plan. The applicant would be need to obtain Plan Commission approval before installing any exterior lighting.  
 
Ryan Christensen (1035 Sande St) indicated the physical concerns have been met and there is no reason not to approve the 
special use permit.  
 
Joel Schlachtenhaufen (1368 Wedgewood Lane) expressed his gratitude to the Fox Valley Islamic Society for their 
involvement in interfaith gatherings and presented a letter dated June 11, 2019 to Plan Commission. (Exhibit II) 
 
Craig Luczak (2442 Maple Grove Drive) presented a packet of information for the Plan Commission expressing his concerns. 
(Exhibit I) 
 
Cindy Huxtable (2533 Bishops Lane) spoke in favor of the Mormon Church in her neighborhood and indicated their presence 
brought value to her neighborhood.  
 
Don DeCristofaro (324 Castle Oak Drive) expressed his concerns with traffic due to the Park on the corner of Marathon and 
County G.  
 
Jim Dehne (2668 Cavalry Lane) Stated the applicant will be able to build the mosque. His concerns are with the location of the 
proposed building being on a site that could be used for tax-bearing homes. He felt this would be a buffer between the park 
and residential areas.  
 
Conrad Pusse (708 Treyburn Ct, Village of Fox Crossing) stated his home abuts property occupied by a Lutheran church and 
school. He described the church as a blessing and indicated there were no impacts to his property value.  
 
Stephanie Heise (256 Fort Drive) expressed her concerns regarding proximity of the future addition area to her home. She 
expressed concern about the wetland area between her home and the proposed building. She expressed concern regarding 
the height of the building.  
 
Erich Lisser (2533 Marathon Avenue) questioned the impact this development would have on home values as he indicated 
many home values have gone up in the past 5 years. He expressed traffic and noise concerns.  
 
Piersen Bowwan (2685 Cavalry Lane) expressed traffic speed concerns. He asked to see the future state of the traffic. He 
questioned if an outdoor speaker system would be part of the plan.  
 
Mohammad Rashid (1410 S. Midpark Dr., Appleton) indicated he has been a member over the past 40 years. He has not 
experienced any neighbor complaints at the facility’s current location. Most people will continue to use County G to access the 
proposed building. The building is being built for long term use and he has no indication of large growth. There were will be no 
street parking.  
 
Steve Albertson (2660 Marathon Avenue) inquired about the time fame of construction. 
 
Rebecca Skowronski (260 Fort Drive) expressed her concern for the existing trees on the subject site.  
 
Andrew Soderberg (2427 Bruce St) indicated his home faces the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints. He is in favor of 
living without close neighbors and described his neighborhood as quieter due to less homes. 
 
Spencer Parulski (264 Fort Drive) questioned the statistical inferences provided by Deputy Director Schmidt and felt there are 
many market factors, construction code changes, etc. that may impact the statistics.  
 
Rev. Tabitha Gallatin (1355 Green Acres Lane) indicated her church (Gloria Dei) is situated with wonderful neighbors. She 
spoke in favor of the planned development.  
 
Kevin Foat (2638 Marathon Ave) expressed drainage concerns and indicated the drainage pond is too small. He indicated the 
ditch on County G is not large enough to accept the current amount of water and the system backs up. He has a storm drain 
on this property. At times water will come out of the storm drain and flood his yard.  
 
Mayor Kaufert closed the Public Hearing for the Special Use Permit – 2680 Marathon Avenue at 5:35 p.m.  
 
 

2. Street Name Change – Oak Street and Peckham Road – E. Peckham Street. Mayor Kaufert opened the Public Hearing. 

 
Milred Wolter (573 Peckham Road) spoke in support of the street name change as the current address created difficulty and 



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 3  
 

confusion when paying her utility bill. 
 
Mayor Kaufert closed the Public Hearing for the Street Name Change – Oak Street and Peckham Road – E. Peckham Street. 
 
 

Action Items: 
 

1. Special Use Permit – 2680 Marathon Avenue – Religious Institution (Mosque) 

 
Mayor Kaufert indicated the traffic expectation would be 1-round trip per day. If this site included 25 residential lots, the trip 
generation for a single family home would be 10 trips per day per lot. For 30 residential lots, this would mean 300 trips per day.  
 
Deputy Director indicated an engineering manual was used to determine the estimated trips per day. The total trips generated 
by this use at peak hour would not be significantly different than if the land was developed as single-family houses.  In 
addition, Marathon Avenue was designed to handle much higher traffic levels than it does today.  Due to the proximity to 
County Highway G, most of the traffic would enter the site from County Highway G to Marathon Avenue on the south.  
 
Mayor Kaufert inquired about an outdoor speaker system. Deputy Director Schmidt indicated there was not an outdoor 
speaker system in the proposal.  
 
Akhtar Sultan (W5434 White Clover Circle, Appleton) introduced himself as the Vice President of the Fox Valley Islamic 
Society. He indicated there will be no external speaker system. 
 
Mayor Kaufert inquired about the existing wetland. Deputy Director Schmidt indicated there is an old drainage district on the 
east side of the site. There is no intent to level or grade. The intent is to leave this area “as-is”.  
 
Deputy Director Schmidt addressed the building height concerns. As the building is 87 feet from the property lines it will not 
cast a shadow on to the neighboring properties. The height is similar to other religious and school buildings in the R-1 District.  
 
Mayor Kaufert inquired about the time frame for construction. Deputy Director Schmidt indicated the applicant intends to begin 
fundraising. The applicant has one year to obtain building permits before the special use permit would become null and void.   
 
Bill Aubrey (Bayland Builders – 3323 Bay Ridge Rd, Oneida) introduced himself as the architect for the proposed project. He 
indicated they plan to begin construction in September 2019 and complete the project in 9-12 months. They plan to remove 
trees in the footprint of the proposed building/parking lot. They do not plan to remove trees to the east of the building site.  
 
Mayor Kaufert inquired about property values. Deputy Director Schmidt indicated he reviewed sales over the past 5 years and 
did not see a lower assessment to sale ratio which would call for future review. He consulted with the City Assessor as well.  
 
Deputy Director indicated he followed the statutory and municipal guidelines. Notices were mailed to the surrounding property 
owners and a notice was printed in the Post Crescent.  
 
Mayor Kaufert inquired about storage for the site. Deputy Director Schmidt indicated a shed up to 200 square feet would be 
allowed on the site, anything larger than that would be reviewed by staff and determination made whether Plan Commission 
review is needed.. 
 
Deputy Director Schmidt indicated he worked closely with the Traffic Engineer to determine a single driveway was better for 
safety. Based on their findings, there are no concerns that the future use would be unable to handle the capacity. The city 
continues to address traffic speed in this area. He would like to explore options to increase the safety and efficient use of the 
park.  
 
Mayor Kaufert indicated he would explore the safety of the park in the future. He indicated he has allocated dollars in the CIP 
to allow for safe access to parks.  
 
Mayor Kaufert inquired about the stormwater pond. Director Kaiser explained the stormwater plan was developed in Castle 
Oak Phase 2 to include the area north of Fort Drive, industrial park, Cavalry Lane, Marathon Avenue to Fort to Grassy Lane. 
The stormwater plan did not assume the subject site would remain a meadow. The stormwater sizing is adequate. He will keep 
an eye on the maintenance. Director Kaiser explained drainage from the stormwater pond flows through a ditch line to County 
G. There is an emergency overflow above the outflow which can dam up and overflow due to how this is plowed. They may 
need to adjust how the pond drains into County G. To address drainage along County G the City will work with Winnebago 
County. To address the culvert sizing they can rerun calculations to make sure the driveways are not creating any dams or 
choke points. 
 
Member Hancock-Cooke inquired about restrictive covenants that may prohibit a storage shed on the site. Attorney Godlewski 



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 4  
 

indicated any covenants would have been included in the recorded Plat of the Subdivision. The City does not enforce 
covenants. 
 
Angela Smith (2684 Cavalry Lane) indicated she received the notice regarding this meeting on Friday which did not leave her 
much time to prepare. She expressed her concerns for children’s safety due to heavy equipment maneuvering on and off the 
site during the 9-12 month construction phase of the project. She raised concern that she was not notified that a mosque 
would be built here when she purchased her home in 2017.  
 
Mayor Kaufert indicated the city could request that the construction equipment come into the site off of County G. Message 
board signage could also be utilized during the construction phase. Mayor Kaufert explained realtors can request real property 
information from the city. 
 
Member Genett indicated realtors are required to warn their clients of adverse conditions. Just because a religious 
organization owns a piece of land does not mean they will build on it. She cautioned that defining a mosque as an ‘adverse 
condition’ would look like bigotry.   
 
MSC Genett/Hancock-Cooke, Plan Commission finds that the proposed use meets the findings of fact for a Special 
Use Permit (Sec. 26-48) and recommends Common Council approve a Special Use Permit for a religious institution 
located at 2680 Marathon Avenue subject to the following conditions:  
 
1. Any and all future additions/expansions, changes/additions of other uses, or an expansion of the existing use must 
be approved through an amendment to the Special Use Permit.  
 
2. If building permits are not obtained within one year, the Special Use Permit shall be considered null and void. 
 
3. All site plan review comments shall be addressed prior to the issuance of building permits. 
 
All Aye. Motion passed. 
 

Mayor Kaufert indicated the applicant is willing to make changes/improvements. If a use is an allowable use, it is an allowable 
use. He hears the traffic concerns. He would like to make sure the parks are safe to get to. He wants this use to make the 
least amount of impact to the neighborhood. 
 

2. Street Name Change – Oak Street and Peckham Road – E. Peckham Street 
 

Traffic Engineer, James Merten, provided an overview of the background and reasons for the street name change. He 
displayed a map of the affected corridor which includes Whitenack Plat, Heller Plat, and Pheasant Run Plat.  

 
MSC Kaiser/Lang, Plan Commission recommends Common Council approve Resolution No. 2019-13 amending the 
name of Peckham Street, Oak Street Road, and Peckham Road located in the Whitenack Plat, Heller Plat, and 
Pheasant Run Plat, respectively, to East Peckham Street.  
 
All Aye. Motion passed. 

 
 
Announcements and future agenda items:   

 
Next Plan Commission meeting is scheduled for June 25, 2019. 
 
Adjournment:  The Commission adjourned its meeting at 6:20 P.M. MSC Piergrossi/Kaiser. All Aye. 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 

 
Cassandra Kohls 
Administrative Assistant, Community Development 
 

 

 

R
E

S
. 

N
O

. 
2

0
1
9

-1
3
 

R
E

P
O

R
T

 



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 5  
 

 

 

EXHIBIT I 
 

 



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 6  
 

 



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 7  
 

 

 



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 8  
 

 

  



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 9  
 

 

  



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 10  
 

 

 



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 11  
 

 

 

 



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 12  
 

 

 

 

 



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 13  
 

 

 

 

  



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 14  
 

 

  



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 15  
 

 

  



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 16  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 17  
 

EXHIBIT II 

 

 

 

 



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 18  
 

 

 

 



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 19  
 

 

 

 

 

 



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 20  
 

 

 

 



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 21  
 

 

 

 



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 22  
 

 

 

 



Plan Commission Minutes 
June 11, 2019 
Page 23  
 

 


